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PREFACE AND ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS


Trevcar Motors was set up by Trevor Wilkinson in 1946. The company quickly became ‘TVR Engineering’, in 1947, creating a name that is immediately recognizable to any sports-car enthusiast today. It was the company’s bread-and-butter work, which involved the provision of light engineering work for Blackpool’s buoyant entertainment businesses, that allowed Wilkinson to pursue his dream of producing sports cars. In 1958 the definitive TVR sports car arrived; this was the Grantura, with its large rear window and stubby styling. Wilkinson left TVR in 1962 and, after a series of financial disasters, alongside an American adventure that spawned the mighty Griffith V8-engined monsters, the company was bought by Martin Lilley in 1965. Lilley introduced the Ford 1600-engined Vixen in 1967, which was followed by the Tuscan and the all-new ‘M’ Series range in 1972.


Lilley provided the company with a smart, stylish, fast and reliable range of models, which would see the company through the 1960s and the 70s and into the 1980s. At the end of the 1970s he instigated the design and development of the Tasmin range, which would see the company safely through the 1980s, but only after financial issues forced Lilley to sell the company to Peter Wheeler in 1982.


This book covers the history of the various companies that made TVR cars, from Trevcars through to the end of Martin Lilley’s TVR Engineering Ltd. It looks at the design and development of each of the major ranges of cars, from the 1940s through to the 1980s, covering the Grantura, Griffith, Vixens, ‘M’ Series and Tasmin ranges. It also recounts owners’ impressions and some restoration experiences of these iconic British sports cars.


ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS


First, I would like to thank Martin Lilley and Oliver Winterbottom for agreeing to be interviewed for this book, and for giving me an insight into the running of the company through the 1970s and into the design processes that led to the development of the Tasmin. In writing this book, I have been assisted by many enthusiasts and owners, who have given up their time to put up with me interviewing them, or have provided me with pictures to illustrate the book. I would like to thank the following: Brian Holmes, Garath James, Peter Shaw, Joe Robson, Ralph Dodds, Oliver Edwards, Henry Weedon, Don Antilla, John Upham, Doug Mann, Mike Mooney, Judy Stream and Andrew Bone.


Kevin Wood and Zoe Schafer from the LAT archive helped in searching for old photos of TVRs. I would like to thank the owner of TVR Number 2, Richard White, and Chris Lowe of the Lakeland Motor Museum for giving me access to the car. Finally, thanks are due to my long-suffering wife, Julia and daughter Elizabeth for putting up with me writing yet another book!






TVR COMPANY TIMELINE


















	Date


	Event


	Notes







	May 1923


	Trevor Wilkinson born


	 







	1946


	Wilkinson sets up Trevcar Motors as a light engineering company


	Located in old wheelwright’s shop at 18 Beverly Grove, South Shore, Blackpool







	1947


	Trevor Wilkinson makes his first special, based on an Alvis Firebird


	Jack Pickard taken on full time as first employee







	1947


	Business renamed TVR Engineering


	First use of ‘TVR’







	1949


	First true TVR chassis developed, and TVR No. 1 produced


	Body in alloy by Les Dale, Ford side-valve engine and gearbox, Morris rear axle and brakes







	1950


	TVR No. 2 produced


	Alloy body; car now preserved







	1951


	TVR No. 3 produced


	Alloy body, Austin A40 engine







	1953


	Workshop at Beverly Grove enlarged


	 







	1953


	New platform chassis design for TVR ‘Sports Saloon’


	No upper bodywork supporting tubing. Used engine from No. 3 and A40 suspension. Glass-fibre body from RGS







	1953


	TVR ‘Sports Saloon’ kit introduced


	Three complete kits sold







	1953–56


	Approx twenty of the new chassis design sold as kits and complete cars


	TVR’s first ‘production’ car







	1954


	‘Winged’ TVR badge introduced


	Badge designed by John Cookson







	1955


	New semi space-frame backbone chassis designed, using a central backbone made up of four tubes, with side outriggers and sheet-steel bulkhead


	Independent trailing-arm suspension all round using VW Beetle front-suspension components







	1955


	Bernard Williams joins as a director, bringing in some capital


	 







	1955


	Ray Saidel of Merrimack Street Garage in Manchester, New Hampshire, USA, makes contact with TVR


	Firm order for a Coventry Climax-powered rolling chassis received in December 1955







	1956


	Beverly Grove premises sold. TVR moves to larger leased factory


	New factory at Hoo Hill Industrial Estate, Leyton, Blackpool







	1957


	Ray Saidel appointed USA TVR/Jodel distributor


	 







	1957


	TVR Coupé introduced, based on latest semi space-frame chassis with ‘notchback’ styling


	Three closed and three open-topped versions produced







	1958


	TVR design refined for series production with fastback rear featuring TVR’s characteristic large rear window


	Large number of orders generated when fastback Jomar (Mark I Grantura) displayed at the 1958 New York Auto Show







	Dec 1958


	TVR Engineering wound up. Layton Sports Cars created to take over from TVR Engineering


	 







	Jan 1959


	Grantura Engineering Ltd formed


	Took over parts supply purchasing responsibilities from Layton Sports Cars







	1959


	John Thurner appointed as technical chief


	 







	1959


	Motor magazine carries technical description of the new series production model


	6 March 1959 issue, model named ‘Grantura’







	1961


	Grantura Mk IIa introduced


	Disc front brakes fitted as standard







	Sept 1961


	Controlling interest in Layton Sports Cars gained by Aitchison-Hopton (Engineering) Ltd


	Company renamed as ‘TVR Cars Ltd’, responsible for body moulding, assembly, marketing and sales







	
5 April 1962



	Trevor Wilkinson resigns from TVR


	Sets up Trevini Plastics in Blackpool. No further dealing with TVR







	Oct 1962


	TVR Car Company fails


	The separate entity of Grantura Engineering survives and continues very limited production







	1963


	Grantura Plastics Ltd formed


	Company formed as offshoot of Grantura Engineering to mould TVR body shells







	1963


	Prototype Griffith produced by Jack Griffith in New York, based on a Grantura Mk III


	Prototype completed in November 1963 using a Ford 289 cubic inch small-block V8







	Sept 1965


	Grantura Engineering Ltd closed down


	 







	Nov 1965


	TVR Engineering Ltd created


	Assets of Grantura Engineering purchased by Arthur and Martin Lilley. Martin Lilley becomes MD and Arthur the Chairman of the new company







	Oct 1967


	Vixen 1600 introduced


	Use of Ford engine marks the start of TVR’s revival under Martin Lilley







	1970


	Move to new premises at Bristol Avenue, Bispham, Blackpool


	New modern factory







	April 1972


	Introduction of the new ‘M’ Series range


	Martin Lilley’s first all-new model range includes 2500M aimed at US market







	Jan 1975


	Major fire at factory halts production


	TVR bounces back after three months







	June 1976


	Turbocharged 3000M introduced


	Major performance leap for the 3000M using Broadspeed-developed installation







	Nov 1976


	Tamair Hatchback Introduced


	First hatchback made by TVR







	1978


	3000S Convertible introduced


	The first convertible TVR since the Open Sports of the 1950s







	1980


	Tasmin Range Introduced


	All-new upmarket Coupé range







	1982


	Martin Lilley sells TVR to Peter Wheeler


	End of the Martin Lilley era















CHAPTER ONE





TVR: THE COMPANY


INTRODUCTION


TVR has a special place in the heart of most British (and many foreign) car enthusiasts. It is the epitome of British grit – the little man fighting on in the face of overwhelming odds, the smaller organization battling against the big boys. It was a company that produced a car that appealed to a small but significant customer base and came back from the dead more times than anyone thought possible. TVR produced low-volume sports cars that were successful on both the road and the track; TVR entered and conquered the US market (more times than most); and TVR always went its own way. And as it went on that way, it was rather appropriate that a company based in Blackpool would embark on something of a rollercoaster ride, its ups and downs always underpinned, however, by a range of models that promoted individuality, technical innovation and solid engineering.


OVERVIEW OF THE COMPANY


The TVR was (and is) probably the quintessential British low-volume sports car, in that the company made some of its products in house and bought in other parts. The process was described by TVR’s mid-1970s US distributor, Gerry Sagerman, as follows: ‘We build everything that goes up and down, while we buy everything that goes round and round.’ TVR’s tubular steel chassis and glass-fibre bodywork disposed of the need to invest in expensive tooling to produce a steel body, and also made it economical to produce the cars in small numbers, with minimal set-up costs. This also meant that there was the potential to make a profit – although this last element did tend to elude the company from time to time!


During the 1950s, 60s and 70s, TVR was an ever-present element of the UK’s small independent car makers’ market. While the TVR badge was a constant, the cars were built under a range of company names, reflecting the precarious cash flow of the company and its somewhat hand-to-mouth existence. With the intervention of Martin Lilley and the creation of TVR Engineering in late 1965, TVR at last found itself under firm managerial control and evolved to become one of the leading specialist sports-car manufacturers in the UK through the 1960s and 70s and into the 80s.
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The Grantura was TVR’s first true production car. This Mark II model shows the stubby styling and wire wheels.
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A 3000M Coupé and a 3000S Convertible. The completely new ‘M’ Series cars were introduced in 1972, and were much more refined than the previous models. COPYRIGHT LAT IMAGES





There were three threads that were carried through all of TVR’s production machines: the use of a tubular backbone chassis, independent front and rear suspension and a glass-fibre body. The chassis and all-round independent suspension were common from the first chassis produced for Ray Saidal’s Jomars, which formed the basis for the Grantura, Vixen and ‘M’ Series ranges and were carried forwards into the Tasmin range, introduced by Martin Lilley and then developed under Peter Wheeler. Few production road cars of the 1950s, 60s and 70s managed to emulate TVR’s tubular chassis, and, while some rivals had independent front and rear suspension, the majority of rivals made do with live rear axles. Sports cars contemporary with TVR through the 1950s to the 1970s, such as the Reliant Scimitar, MGA and Austin Healey 3000, all had a relatively crude, solid-steel chassis and a live rear axle. The Lotus Elan had all-independent suspension and an innovative sheet-steel chassis, and, while the mainstream monocoque-bodied MGB sported independent front suspension, it also suffered from a crude leaf-sprung solid rear axle. TVR’s use of glass fibre to manufacture body shells was shared with most of the low-volume car manufacturers of the time, as the material required minimal outlay on tooling, was easy to use and was (in those days of low-cost oil products) cheap.
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TVR Company timeline.





EARLY DAYS: TREVCAR MOTORS AND TVR ENGINEERING 1946 TO 1957


Trevor Wilkinson was born in 1923 and brought up in the seaside resort town of Blackpool, Lancashire, in north-west England. At the tender age of 23 he founded and ran the first of the numerous business that would produce TVR-badged cars throughout the second half of the twentieth century and into the twenty-first. Trevcar Motors was established in 1946 in a former wheelwright’s workshop at 18 Beverly Grove in Blackpool. The town was a major holiday resort at the time, with many amusement parks entertaining the holidaymakers of the day with rides and various stalls. While Trevcar Motors was set up with the intention of producing sports cars, Wilkinson was astute enough to realize that a fledgling outfit would need a reliable income to finance design and development. In order to do this, Trevcar Motors provided light mechanical and engineering support to many of the Blackpool-based amusement park companies, as well as repairing various vehicles and buying and selling secondhand cars.


The steady flow of engineering work ensured that Trevcar Motors made enough money to fund Wilkinson’s initial forays into car design. As early as 1947, Wilkinson found the time and money to re-body an Alvis Firebird, to produce his first entry into the sports-car market. The name ‘Trevcar Motors’ did not last long. In 1947, the company was renamed ‘TVR Engineering’, presumably to more accurately reflect the work that it was doing. At the same time, Wilkinson was joined at the firm by fellow car enthusiast Jack Pickard, and they soon set about designing the first TVR car. The result, which emerged in 1949, was a classic example of the British specialist car manufacturer’s art: a custom-designed and custom-built multi-tubular chassis, which carried a Morris Eight rear axle, Ford 100E side-valve engine and three-speed gearbox. The car was clad in a two-seat torpedo-style alloy body with open wheels, made by a talented local tin basher, Les Dale, who had also created the bodywork for Wilkinson’s Alvis Firebird project. One point of interest was that it featured Wilkinson's own design of trailing-arm independent front suspension.
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TVR Number 2 was produced in the early 1950s and had a tubular space-frame chassis and custom-made alloy bodywork. Pictured at the Lakeland Motor Museum in 2016.





This car was followed by second and third versions, which were produced during 1950 and 1951. TVR Number 2 still exists, displayed at the time of writing in the Lakeland Motor Museum in the UK.


Wilkinson then designed a completely new car, called the TVR ‘Sports Saloon’, to try to produce a commercially successful design that could be put into limited production. A number of factors influenced the move from the out-and-out sports approach epitomized by the first three cars: the custom-made alloy bodies were expensive and slow to produce and the complex chassis needed to be simplified. There would inevitably be advantages to using the mechanical components from a single model of a popular mainstream production car, in this case the Austin A40. The solution to the expensive alloy body was obvious: it could be replaced with a proprietary glass-fibre body shell. The use of glass fibre for body shells had blossomed after the Second World War, with new technology enabling the economic production of complex shapes. Initially seen as a useful material to replace the rotted-out body on an old car, glass-fibre could be used to produce a strikingly styled complete body to fit on a proprietary chassis and running gear. The production of such pieces quickly established itself as an industry in its own right, and many an obsolete pre-war chassis was given a new lease of life with a new glass-fibre body shell.


With various companies producing body shells, TVR were able to use an existing shell, the RGS Atalanta, on its new Sports Saloon chassis to produce a sleek coupé. Other bodies for open sportsters from Rochdale and Mircoplas were also made available, and TVR had also become agents for the RGS body shell. The new chassis was still made from round-section tubing, but did not need the complex framework of tubes on its upper half to support an alloy body.


Finally, the new chassis was designed to take the then current Austin A40 front suspension and rear axle, which resulted in the use of many easily available components in the overall design. While the Sports Saloon was in production it used the same basic chassis and suspension components, but the final specification of each car was determined by the customer. As a result, the engine and gearboxes fitted ranged from the Austin A40 and Ford’s 100E, through MG’s TF 1500 and MGA ‘B’ Series, to a few Lea Francis units.
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TVR, like many other small car manufacturers, used proprietary glass-fibre body shells. This advert from 1954 for RGS shows the TVR Sports Saloon, which used the RGS Atalanta shell.





The Sports Saloon was marketed and sold in small numbers between 1954 and 1956, with around twenty being produced. The first three were closed two-door saloons using the RGS Atalanta body, but the rest used a variety of mainly open-topped body shells or were supplied as chassis only, leaving the choice of body up to the customer.


While the Sports Saloon was being produced, Wilkinson and Pickard were keen to move on and in early 1955 embarked on the design of what would become the trademark TVR chassis. It had all-tubular construction, and a central backbone made from four main fore and aft tubes, joined with short reinforcing tubes and tubular outriggers on each side to surround the passenger cell. The point of the layout was to make the car low, giving a low seating position but still retaining enough stiffness in the structure to give a small, light sports car that handled well. One of its outstanding features was the use of independent suspension all round, using Volkswagen Beatle torsion bars and trailing arms at both front and rear. This new chassis resulted in a new TVR ‘open sports’ car, a small two-seater, which gave rise to a series of cars known as the Jomar in the USA and the first of the Grantura range in the UK.
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The TVR Coupé bodywork adorned some of Ray Saidel’s Jomars. This rear view shows the distinctive rear styling and the abbreviated hard top. COPYRIGHT LAT IMAGES





With the new backbone chassis and the new factory at Hoo Hill, things were going well for TVR Engineering. However, with Wilkinson and Pickard concentrating on the design and production of the cars, as well as the company’s general engineering work, it soon became apparent that they needed someone to help run the business side of things. An existing customer, Bernard Williams, was recruited as a director and bought shares in the company, injecting some much-needed working capital into TVR Engineering. At around the same time, August 1955, a letter arrived that would have an important effect on the tiny company. It was from an American by the name of Ray Saidel, the owner of the Merrimack Street Garage in Manchester, New Hampshire, and an erstwhile racing team manager and driver. He had seen the press reports on the new TVR rolling chassis and was looking to acquire a Coventry Climax-powered example.


With the prospect of further orders from the USA, in early 1956 TVR Engineering sold its original premises at Beverly Grove. They had outgrown the old wheelwright’s shop, but remained in the Blackpool area, taking a long lease on an old brickworks on the Hoo Hill Industrial Estate in Bispham Road, Leyton, a suburb of the seaside resort. Just three miles north of the original works, the site would be home to the company for the following fourteen years. The new premises gave the small company the space it needed to start to produce cars in numbers that could be described as ‘series production’.


Saidel ordered two more rolling chassis during 1956, and domestic orders for kits and complete cars started to trickle in. As the company slowly expanded, more capital was needed, and a second new director, Fred Thomas, was appointed. Again, there was a much-needed input of cash into TVR Engineering, but the additional directors were beginning to erode Wilkinson’s hold on the company.


While the company was delivering the bare-chassis cars to Saidel, it was also experimenting with glass-fibre bodywork. Combining the front bonnet from the proprietary Microplas Mistral body shell, TVR’s own mid-section, and a rear end formed by taking a mould from the front of the car, it came up with an attractive and neat glass-fibre body shell for the TVR Open Sports. With the addition of a hardtop in 1957, the Open Sports became the first of the TVR Coupés, with the first example being delivered to Saidel in the USA in late 1957. A second Coupé kit was delivered to the first UK customer, John Cookson, a friend of Wilkinson, in late 1957, and was completed and put on the road in early 1958. The third Coupé was used as a factory demonstrator from late 1957. Following a firm order for a further three Coupés from Saidel, who displayed his first Coupé at the 1957 New York Auto Show, the orders began to flood in. Buoyed up by the prospect of series production, TVR announced to the press in early 1958 that the car was available and that a fastback version of the Coupé, known as the TVR Mark I, was close to production. This fastback version would become the first of the Grantura line and was given extensive press coverage when it was finally released to the UK market during 1959.


With the introduction of the Grantura, which was viewed as a pretty good small sports car, TVR at last had a production model that could be sold on both sides of the Atlantic. Available in kit form or fully built, the car had three engine options: Ford’s 1172cc side-valve (with optional supercharger), the 1489cc BMC ‘B’ Series unit from the MGA and the 1216cc Coventry Climax FWE unit from the Lotus Elite. However, as TVR Engineering tried to ramp up production, it ran into cash-flow problems and, despite a healthy order book and a couple of dozen cars completed, the company had to be wound up in December 1958. Immediately following the winding-up of TVR Engineering, Layton Sports Cars Ltd emerged, with Wilkinson and Williams as directors, and production resumed. Dismayed by the lack of cars available, Saidel terminated his agreement in 1959, losing TVR its access to the US market.
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From the front, the Jomar/TVR Coupé shows many similarities to the later Grantura. The recessed headlamps did not make it through to the Grantura.







KIT CAR CONSIDERATIONS


The creation of Grantura Engineering resulted from a quirk of the UK market for ‘kit cars’. Essentially, a kit car was a set of components that could be built up by the buyer into a car, which, when completed, was not subject to purchase tax. The rate of purchase tax levied on a normal car varied throughout the 1950s and 60s, but it could be as high as 45 per cent on top of the list price, which obviously represented a significant additional cost for the customer. In the late 1950s, Her Majesty’s Customs and Excise department grew wise to companies such as TVR and Lotus offering a complete kit of all parts and mandated that the parts making up the kit of parts must be bought from more than one legally defined source. To get round this legality, companies such as TVR and Lotus set up new parallel companies to sell their customers some of the parts that made up the kit. In TVR’s case Grantura Engineering supplemented Layton Sports Cars (1958–61) and TVR Cars Ltd (1961–62), then, when TVR Cars Ltd failed in 1962, leaving just Grantura Engineering in place, Grantura Plastics was set up to satisfy the Customs and Excise regulations. In the case of Lotus, a pair of companies was set up, known as Lotus Components Ltd and Racing Engines Ltd. The various components of Elites, Elans and Sevens could be split between them, thus ensuring that customers had two invoices for all the parts needed to build their kit. In the late 1950s a complete Grantura Mark I cost £950 plus £435 purchase tax – a mark-up of some 45 per cent. Although by 1962 the purchase tax rate had dropped to around 37 per cent, buying the car in kit form could still bring significant savings to a customer. The introduction of Value Added Tax in 1973 signalled the end of purchase tax. As the new tax applied to most goods, including car components, it removed the anomaly that had given kit cars such an important price advantage. As a result, many companies moved to offering fully completed cars only.





PRODUCTION CARS: LAYTON SPORTS CARS AND TVR CARS LTD 1958 TO 1962


In the Grantura, Layton Sports Cars had a solid product with which to recommence production at the Hoo Hill site. With Trevor Wilkinson still Managing Director and Chief Engineer, ably assisted by long-termer Jack Pickard, and Bernard Williams as a director and in charge of sales, things continued without any material change. However, in 1959, engineer John Thurner was recruited from Rolls Royce as Technical Head. This was the start of the slow eviction of Trevor Wilkinson from the company he had founded. In 1959, a parallel company, Grantura Engineering (owned by Bernard Williams), was set up to act as a supplier to Layton Sports Cars, which acted as a front company producing all the publicity and interacting with the public.
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Early Granturas, such as Brian Holmes’ 1961 Mark II (pictured), had a one-piece clamshell front bonnet, stubby doors and were often fitted with wire wheels.





Arnold Burton, a director of the tailoring group of the same name, had bought a Grantura Mark II in 1960. After loaning the company some money, he was appointed a director, and contributed more cash to the company towards the end of the year to stave off the inevitable bankruptcy. He would remain with the company in various roles, including Chairman, until 1965. As time went on, more and more directors were appointed, each bringing money into the growing business and effectively buying their directorships. By 1961, there were ten or so directors of the company – far too large a number of chiefs for what was still a small and struggling company employing some fifty men. It was one of several factors that contributed to the ultimate failure of Layton Sports Cars.


In 1961 Dick Monnich’s company, RM Imports, was appointed as the company’s US distributor, re-opening the US market to TVR after the exit of Ray Saidel. In September of the same year, overall control of Layton Sports Cars passed to Brian Hopton and Keith Aitchison, who also ran Aitchison-Hopton, a leading TVR dealership. The new management commissioned the design of a new chassis, which was started by Thurner. The result was the Grantura Mark III, which had a slightly longer wheelbase and all-round wishbone suspension. Finances would not stretch to a new body shell, however, so a lightly modified Grantura shell had to be used. Hopton also set up a TVR Works Competition team, headed up by ex-Triumph man Ken Richardson, to promote the new car, but, despite Richardson securing significant sponsorship from Castrol Oils, the whole enterprise was underfunded and doomed to failure.


In the same year, Layton Sports Cars was renamed TVR Cars Ltd and the Grantura Mark III, with its new chassis, coil spring and wishbone suspension and lightly modified body, was introduced.


In April 1962, Trevor Wilkinson left TVR. His position as founder and owner had been compromised by the increasing number of directors and the need to sell more and more shares in the company in order to maintain cash flow. With Thurner as Technical Lead and Wilkinson’s design of chassis superseded with the Grantura Mark III, Wilkinson’s technical position was undermined. Furthermore, he was unhappy with what he saw as the unsustainable expansion and poor financial control of the company. He left and set up another engineering firm in Blackpool, Trevini Plastics, but sadly had nothing further to do with TVR Cars. His concerns for the company he had created and nurtured for the past number of years proved to be well founded, as TVR Cars Ltd was forced to close down, in October 1962, following yet another cash-flow crisis.


RETRENCHMENT AND DISASTER: GRANTURA ENGINEERING 1963 TO 1965


With Trevor Wilkinson having left the company in April 1962, and the failure of TVR Cars Ltd in October 1962, responsibility for the production of TVRs fell on the shoulders of Grantura Engineering, the sister company of TVR Cars, which had carried out subcontract work, including body shell production, for Layton Sports Cars and TVR Cars Ltd. Run by Bernard Williams and David Hives, along with John Ward, John Thurner and Stan Kilcoyne, the surviving company managed to pick up the pieces and restart production of the Grantura. In the new venture’s first six months, about five cars were cobbled together using existing spares and body shells that were in stock, and relying on the goodwill of some suppliers. Most of these cars went to Dick Monnich in the USA, keeping the TVR name alive in that important market. Eventually, the company managed to buy the stock of the liquidated TVR Cars Ltd, and production slowly started to rise.
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Don Antilla’s fine example of a Griffith. The Griffith was created by the US distributor cramming a 289cu in Ford V8 under the Grantura Mark III’s bonnet.





In early 1963, Thurner left the hand-to-mouth existence at Grantura and returned to Rolls Royce. The majority of the share capital of the struggling company was acquired via the input of desperately needed cash from Keith Aitchison, who became an active participant in the firm, and Grantura racer Richard Barnaby. The company struggled on through 1963, desperately undercapitalized but still making just enough Granturas to keep its head above water. During 1963 an offshoot of Grantura Engineering was set up to split production of the component parts of the cars. Imaginatively named Grantura Plastics and co-located at the Hoo Hill works, the new concern would produce the body shells of the Grantura. Owned by Bernard Williams, it was a completely separate legal entity from Grantura Engineering, enabling the company to prove to the Inland Revenue that components for their cars came from two separate legal entities and thereby satisfying the purchase tax rules for kit cars.
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The Ford V8 was a tight fit in the Griffith’s engine bay. This is Doug Mann’s engine in his Griffith; note the forward routed exhaust manifolds.





The company received a boost in late 1963, with the testing of a Grantura Mark III 1800 by the UK’s two weekly car magazines, The Autocar and Motor. The reviews raised the company’s profile and stimulated some extra interest in the cars on the home market, and in January 1964 a TVR Grantura Mark III was exhibited at the Racing Car Show at London’s Olympia on a stand organized by distributor Bill Last. As the company slowly grew in confidence again, the Trident project was gradually taking shape too. Events were happening in the USA as well, as Dick Monnich and Jack Griffith conspired to fit a Ford 289 cubic inch V8 into an innocent MG-engined Grantura, to create the Griffith.


Grantura production started to rise, fed mainly by demand from Monnich and Griffith for cars without engines and gearboxes for conversion into Griffith 200s, and the financial situation at Grantura engineering eased. The company could begin to plan for the future. The cut-off rear end and larger rear window of the Grantura 1800S appeared in early 1964 to give a welcome update to the Grantura’s styling; in the USA, the Griffith 400 was launched to exploit the new body style. Somewhat bizarrely, the UK version of the Griffith using the cut-off body shell was named the Griffith 200.


Industrial action by US longshoremen kicked off in December 1964, when a number of wildcat strikes caused the closure of some of the ports on the US East Coast. As the situation escalated, most of the US East Coast ports were closed, effectively paralysing all ship-based trade between the UK and the US. At a stroke, the business plans of both Jack Griffith and Grantura Engineering were destroyed. With no cars coming through, Griffith had nothing to sell, and with no way to get the cars to Griffith, Grantura Engineering saw its main source of income suddenly stopped. A dispute between TVR and Jack Griffith over money and the supply of the proposed TVR Trident meant that the agreement between TVR and Griffith was dead in the water. TVR had once again lost their US distributor and with it access to their largest market. The result was as inevitable as it was sad: Grantura Engineering ran out of cash. Arnold Burton, the company’s Chairman since 1960, refused to inject any more funds and the company was forced into liquidation in September 1965.


THE MARTIN LILLEY YEARS: TVR ENGINEERING 1965 TO 1982


Martin Lilley and his father Arthur, proprietors of the Barnet Motor Company, bought the assets of the liquidated Grantura Engineering company in November 1965, and set up the TVR Engineering Company Ltd, creating an identity that at long last would not be changing every few years!
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The Grantura name was dropped after Martin Lilley took over; the TVR Mark IV 1800S was the UK and European market car for 1966.





Once Martin and Arthur Lilley had taken stock of what they had actually bought, the priority for the first few years of their reign at TVR was to get the company back on its feet and establish a steady if not spectacular demand for its product. Starting with the existing Grantura 1800S, Lilley started to cut the ties with the dubious history of the company by dropping the Grantura name and relaunching the model as the TVR Mark III 1800S. The first new car emerged in February 1966. Initially, the new company continued to buy its body shells from Grantura Plastics, but luckily TVR Engineering owned the moulds, and as soon as was financially viable Martin Lilley leased some more space (in some old greenhouses) on the Hoo Hill site and brought the production of the body shells back under his control.


The Mark III was superseded by the Mark IV 1800S in July 1966, incorporating the first tranche of many refinements and improvements that Lilley implemented. TVR now entered a period of stability, if not profitability. A few Griffiths, with Ford V8 power, were also produced and the Tuscan, a lightly reworked Griffith, appeared in January 1967, but these were produced in very low numbers. Luckily, the Lilley family had enough capital to ensure the survival of the company, although Martin does recall that it took a good couple of years before it showed a profit and he and his father had to pump an awful lot of money into the concern to keep it going.


As TVR’s previous US distributor, Monnich’s RM Imports, had broken from Grantura Engineering, a new US distributor for TVR Engineering was needed. TVR Cars of America was set up in 1966 by Gerry Sagerman, entrepreneur, friend of Dick Monnich and extrovert businessman. After the failure of RM Imports and the earlier Jomar debacle, this new distributor had a steep road to climb to rehabilitate TVR in the eyes of existing and potential customers in the USA. He set to it immediately, with the encouragement and support of Martin Lilley.


Lilley was acutely aware of the need to produce a car that the public would want to buy, and the importance of pricing such a car competitively. With this in mind, he cast around for ways to save money and improve his product and this led to the introduction of the Ford-powered 1600cc Vixen. The Ford engine was a modern unit, with a great reputation for performance and reliability, and was lighter and cheaper than the ‘B’ Series unit, which was rather long in the tooth. Since TVR had a trade account with Ford, they could get hold of the engines and gearboxes quickly and on better terms than the BMC units from their previous suppliers. When it was installed in the Mark IV’s chassis, the Ford unit produced a car with a peppy performance and very different character from the outgoing 1800S.
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ATALANTA FIBRE GLASS BODIES

FIRST IN THE FIELD WITH OPEN AND SALOON MODELS
UNSURPASSED IN DESIGN AND QUALITY

Body supplied to T. A. Stodart for Bristol 400
chassis. Wheelbase 9 ft. 6in. R. T. Dart Ltd.,
Chapel Street, Tiverton, mounted the body
and will be glad to supply and fit our shells
to customers’ chassis in Devon areas.

|GFV 866

Body supplied to T. Wilkinson for T.V.R. chassis.
Wheelbase 7 ft. 6in. T.V.R. Engineering have
had three of the R.G.S. bodies and will be glad to
supply and fit our bodies for either T.V.R. chassis
or any other make. Inquiries to T.V.R. Eng.,
18, Beverley Grove, Blackpool S.

Body supplied to R. W. Jacobs for YB model M.G.

chassis. Wheelbase 8 ft. 3in. Dick Jacobs will
be pleased to supply our body shells to all cus-
tomers in his part of the world. Inquiries to
R. W. Jacobs & Son, Mill Garage, Chigwell Road,
South Woodford, E.18.

These body shells from our new moulds, as will be seen above, provide the finest possible available foundation for a really first-class

sports car, open or closed, within reach of the average enthusiast’s pocket. They are moulded by Necolam Ltd., Beach Road, Blyth,

Northumberland, who have the longest experience in this class of moulding of any company in the British Isles. Buy your bodies
from the leaders in the field. Well over 50 bodies have now been sold.

AGENTS, SCOTLAND :

Pegasus Motors,
205-217, William Street,
Glasgow, C.3.

AGENTS, CANADA : AGENTS, SWITZERLAND :
Campbell Sports Car Co., M. Humair et Fils,

122, Willowdale Street, 41, rue Liotard,

Willowdale, Toronto. Geneve.

R.G.S. AUTOMOBILE COMPONENTS LTD.
Telephone : WINKFIELD ROW 91

FULL DETAILS AND INQUIRIES TO:
BROOKSIDE GARAGE, 'WINKFIELD, WINDSOR, BERKS
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TVR Company Timeline1948 - 1981

1946 - Trevcar Motors set up by Trevor Wilkinson

\

1947 - Trevcar Motors renamed as TVR Engineering

N\

December 1958 - TVR Engineering wound up, and Layton Sports Cars Ltd Formed

January 1959 - Grantura Engineering Ltd Formed
Carries out sub contract work for Layton

September 1961 - Layton renamed as TVR Cars Ltd
April 1962 - Wilkinson leaves TVR

October 1962 - TVR Cars Ltd fails
Late 1962 - Grantura Engineering resumes car production

1963 - Grantura Plastics Formed
Produces Bodyshells

September 1965 - Grantura Engineering fails

/

November 1965 - TVR Engineering Ltd set up
Buys all Grantura Engineering Assets
Start of the Martin Lilly Era

December 1981 - Martin Lilly signs over TVR Engineering Ltd to Peter Wheeler
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